

GIRK2 expression in dopamine neurons of the substantia nigra and ventral tegmental area

Author:

Reyes, Stefanie; Fu, YuHong; Double, Kay; Thompson, Lachlan; Kirik, Deniz; Paxinos, George; Halliday, Glenda

Publication details:

Journal of Comparative Neurology
v. 520
Chapter No. 12
pp. 2591-2607
0021-9967 (ISSN)

Publication Date:

2012

Publisher DOI:

<http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/cne.23051>

License:

<https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/au/>

Link to license to see what you are allowed to do with this resource.

Downloaded from <http://hdl.handle.net/1959.4/53345> in <https://unsworks.unsw.edu.au> on 2024-04-24

JCN-11-0302 resubmitted to the Journal of Comparative Neurology associate editor Jeffrey
H. Kordower (Rush University Medical Center), 18th October 2011

Glenda Halliday 16/10/11 11:38 PM

Deleted: S

Glenda Halliday 16/10/11 11:38 PM

Deleted: Septem

GIRK2 expression in dopamine neurons of the substantia nigra and ventral tegmental area

Authors: Stefanie Reyes^{*1}, Yuhong Fu^{*1}, Kay Double¹, Lachlan Thompson², Deniz Kirik³, George Paxinos¹ and Glenda M. Halliday¹

** Co first authors*

¹Neuroscience Research Australia and the School of Medical Sciences, University of New South Wales, Randwick, Sydney, 2031 New South Wales, Australia

²Florey Neuroscience Institutes, Melbourne, Australia

³Brain Repair and Imaging in Neural Systems, Department of Experimental Medical Science, BMC D11, Lund University, 22184, Lund, Sweden

Abbreviated title: Substantia nigra GIRK2 distribution

Key words: GIRK2, human, mouse, substantia nigra

Corresponding author: Professor Glenda Halliday, Neuroscience Research Australia, Randwick, NSW 2031, Australia, phone: +61-2-93991704, fax: +61-2-93991105, email: g.halliday@neura.edu.au

Acknowledgement of support:

SR – Elizabeth and Michael Gilbert scholarship, Parkinson's NSW Scholarship stipend

YF, GP - National Health & Medical Research Council Australia fellowship grant #568605;

Australian Research Council Linkage Infrastructure grant #LE100100074

KD - National Health & Medical Research Council of Australia fellowship grant #401101

LT - National Health & Medical Research Council of Australia project grant #508992

DK - Swedish Research Council grant K2009-61P-20945-03-1

GMH - National Health & Medical Research Council of Australia fellowship grant #630434;

Australian Research Council Linkage Infrastructure grant #LE100100074

ABSTRACT

G-protein regulated inward-rectifier potassium channel 2 (GIRK2) is reported to be expressed only within certain dopamine neurons of the substantia nigra (SN), although very limited data are available in humans. We examined the localization of GIRK2 in the SN and adjacent ventral tegmental area (VTA) of humans and mice using [either neuromelanin pigment or](#) immunolabeling with tyrosine hydroxylase (TH) [or](#) calbindin. Serial transverse 50µm sections were cut from formalin-fixed brainstems of five brain donors free from significant abnormalities (aged 85±3 years old) and compared with 40µm sections from paraformaldehyde-fixed brains from six adult C57BL/6/J mice. GIRK2 immunoreactivity [was found](#) in nearly every [human pigmented neuron or mouse](#) TH-immunoreactive neuron in both the SN and VTA, although considerable variability in the intensity of GIRK2 staining was observed. The [relative intensity of GIRK2 immunoreactivity was determined using Image J software grayscale and the](#) proportion of TH-immunoreactive neurons containing strong GIRK2 immunoreactivity [determined \(>50% of comparator intensity\)](#). In both species, nearly all SN [TH-immunoreactive](#) neurons had strong GIRK2 immunoreactivity compared with only 50-60% of VTA neurons. Most paranigral neurons also contained calbindin immunoreactivity and approximately 25% of these and nearby VTA neurons also had strong GIRK2 immunoreactivity. These data show that high amounts of GIRK2 protein are found in most SN neurons as well as in a proportion of nearby VTA neurons, and that previous studies suggesting GIRK2 is located only in limited neuronal groups within the SN of humans and mice have erroneously included VTA regions as part of the SN.

Glenda Halliday 16/10/11 11:39 PM
Deleted: , localized in all dopamine neurons

Glenda Halliday 16/10/11 11:39 PM
Deleted: and

Glenda Halliday 16/10/11 11:40 PM
Deleted: (localized in VTA but not SN dopamine neurons)

Glenda Halliday 16/10/11 11:40 PM
Deleted: neuropathological and neurological

Glenda Halliday 16/10/11 11:40 PM
Deleted: Confocal microscopy revealed

Glenda Halliday 16/10/11 11:41 PM
Deleted:

Glenda Halliday 16/10/11 11:41 PM
Deleted: or weak

Glenda Halliday 16/10/11 11:41 PM
Deleted: was

Glenda Halliday 16/10/11 11:41 PM
Deleted: using gray scaling with a

Glenda Halliday 16/10/11 11:41 PM
Deleted:

Glenda Halliday 16/10/11 11:41 PM
Deleted: threshold cut-off

INTRODUCTION

Part of the dopaminergic substantia nigra pars compacta (SNC) degenerates in Parkinson's disease leaving neighbouring dopamine neurons in the ventral tegmental area (VTA) and retrorubral fields relatively preserved (reviewed in (Double et al., 2010)). The degeneration within the SNC occurs in a distinct pattern, with specific cell clusters of the ventral tier rapidly disappearing while neighbouring dorsal cell clusters remain relatively immune until late in the disease. Hassler (1938) was the first to identify that certain dense clusters of neurons in the ventral tier of the SNC are most affected in PD, a finding confirmed in all subsequent studies (Bernheimer et al., 1973; Braak and Braak, 1986; Braak et al., 2003; Damier et al., 1999; Fearnley and Lees, 1991; Gibb and Lees, 1991; Greenfield and Bosanquet, 1953; Halliday et al., 1996; Hirsch et al., 1989). This selective loss of the ventral cell tier suggests significant differences between these SNC cells and those in the more resistant dorsal tier of the SNC.

The differential expression of cellular proteins within the SNC is thought to contribute to cell vulnerability, although there is considerable speculation on the most relevant proteins involved (reviewed in (Double et al., 2010)). The G-protein inward rectifier potassium 2 (GIRK2) channel, an ion channel modulating neuronal excitability (Lacey et al., 1987), has been suggested to be one such factor to explain differential vulnerability of ventral tier SNC neurons in Parkinson's disease. In rodents the expression of GIRK2 differs between SNC and VTA neurons, with higher mRNA expression in the SNC (Chung et al., 2005; Schein et al., 1998). A GIRK2 mutation in weaver mice causes developmental loss of most of the SNC (particularly the ventral tier) as well as cerebellar Purkinje cells (Kofuji et al., 1996; Navarro et al., 1996; Slesinger et al., 1996), supporting the concept that the differential expression of GIRK2 relates to cell vulnerability. In adult humans and mice, GIRK2 protein is reported to

be localized only within ventral tier SNC neurons (Mendez et al., 2005; Thompson et al., 2005), although the information in humans is very limited. Of interest, mRNA expression appears to be more widespread occurring in both SNC and lateral VTA dopamine neurons (Chung et al., 2005; Eulitz et al., 2007; Schein et al., 1998). The discrepancy between the localization of GIRK2 protein and mRNA in dopamine neurons and the limited data available in humans warrants further examination of the localization of this protein in the SNC and VTA to verify whether this protein may mark neurons most vulnerable to Parkinson's disease.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Human brain tissue and preparation

The upper part of the brainstem from five brain donors (three males, two females) without neuropsychiatric, neurological, or neurodegenerative disease was obtained from the Sydney Brain Bank (tissue collection approved by the Human Research Ethics Committee of The University of New South Wales, Sydney, Australia) following approvals by the Australian Brain Donors Programmes (ABBN) Scientific Advisory Committee (study approval number 0118) and the Human Research Ethics Advisory Committee of The University of New South Wales, Sydney, Australia (ethics approval number 090030). The mean age (and standard deviation) at death of the brain donors was 85 ± 3 years, their mean postmortem delay was 16 ± 8 hours, and the mean time in fixative prior to this study was 68 ± 47 months. Individual demographic details for all cases are given in **Table 1**. Tissue blocks of the upper brainstem were cryoprotected in 30% buffered sucrose, frozen in mounting medium, and sectioned transversely through their entire rostro-caudal axis at $50 \mu\text{m}$ on a cryostat into 16 spaced series of sections (sections sampled every $800 \mu\text{m}$).

*** **Table 1 about here** ***

Mice brain tissue and preparation

Six C57BL/6J mice (8–10 weeks, 21–25 g, three male, three female) were obtained from the Animal Resource Centre, Perth, Australia and the study protocols approved by the Animal Care and Ethics Committee of The University of New South Wales, Sydney, Australia (ACEC 08/48B). Following transcardial perfusion of the mice with 4% paraformaldehyde (4°C, pH7.4), the brains were post-fixed in the same fixative for four hours and then cryoprotected in 30% sucrose-buffer. Each brain was cut into 40 µm sections on a freezing microtome in the coronal plane and consecutive sections of the SN were harvested from 2.30–4.60mm posterior to Bregma.

Antibody Characterization

GIRK2 antibody (**Table 2**) was characterised by the preabsorption of the antibody with the addition of an excess of the corresponding control peptide (3:1), which resulted in the complete abolition of immunostaining. No positive signal was detected. Specificity of the antibody in the tissues was determined by comparison with previously published localization studies (Eulitz et al., 2007; Schein et al., 1998), [including those using the same Alomone GIRK2 antibody \(Mendez et al., 2005; Thompson et al., 2005\)](#), and by substituting the GIRK2 antibody with normal serum. [GIRK2 immunoreactivity has been previously identified in pontine and cerebellar neurons, neurons of the SNC but not its main projection region \(neither neurons or neuropil immunostaining in the striatum\), in lower layer neurons and throughout the neuropil of the cerebral cortex and hippocampus, as well as neurons and fibres in the basal forebrain and diencephalon \(Eulitz et al., 2007; Schein et al., 1998\). A similar distribution was observed in the present study, as indicated in the results.](#) No positive reactions were observed in any sections in which GIRK2 antibody was not included.

*** Table 2 about here ***

The TH and calbindin antibodies (**Table 2**) were selected because of their common use as markers of dopamine neurons (for TH) and calbindin-containing neurons respectively. The specificity of the antibody in the tissues was determined by comparison with previously published localization studies (McRitchie and Halliday, 1995) and by substituting the TH or calbindin antibodies with normal serum. No positive reactions were observed in any sections in which TH and calbindin antibodies were not included.

Free-floating immunohistochemistry

For single immunolabeling, [the series of serial sections from all 5 human cases were processed in the one immunorun, as were the series of serial sections from all 6 mouse brains.](#) [This was to avoid experimental variability.](#) Human tissue sections were pretreated for 20 mins

with 3% hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) in 0.1M phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) while mouse tissue sections were pretreated with 1% H₂O₂ in 50% ethanol. Sections were blocked in 10% normal serum (horse or goat, Sigma, St Louis, USA), washed in PBS, then incubated overnight at room temperature in 5% normal serum in PBS with 0.5% Triton X-100 and rabbit anti-GIRK2 at a dilution of 1:300 (for mouse tissue) or 1:400 (for human tissue). Additional series of tissue were also immunolabeled in the same method with rabbit anti-TH (1:1000) and mouse anti-calbindin (1:2000) for human, and mouse anti-TH (1:2000) for mouse. After washing with PBS, sections were incubated for two hours in 2% normal serum containing biotinylated goat anti-rabbit IgG, biotinylated goat anti-mouse IgG or biotinylated horse anti-mouse IgG (using Sigma B7389 and B0529 at 1:250 for mouse tissue, and Vector labs, Burlingame, CA BA2000 and BA1000 at 1:200 for human tissue). Immunoreactivity was visualized by incubating for two hours in either ExtrAvidin peroxidase (Sigma E2886 at 1:1000) for mouse tissue or avidin-biotin-complex (Vector Labs PK-6100 at 1:100) for human tissue, followed by incubation in 0.05% diaminobenzidine tetrahydrochloride (Sigma

Glenda Halliday 16/10/11 11:46 PM
Deleted: h

D5637 DAB), with either 0.04% nickel ammonium sulphate (for mouse tissue) or 2% nickel ammonium sulphate and 2.5% cobalt chloride (for human tissue) in PBS for 3 minutes, followed by the addition of 0.1% H₂O₂. The addition of nickel and cobalt result in the peroxidase complex forming a dark black stain that could be easily distinguished from the lighter brown neuromelanin pigment present in human dopamine nigral neurons. After rinsing in PBS, all sections were mounted and dried overnight, dehydrated, delipidated, and coverslipped. Bright field histological preparations were photographed using an Aperio Scanscope.

To avoid experimental variability in the double-immunofluorescent labeling, the series of serial sections from all 5 human cases were processed in the one immunorun for each antibody pair, as were the series of serial sections from all 6 mouse brains. Sections were

blocked for one hour in 5% normal serum and 0.05% TX-100, then incubated for two nights at 4°C in the following primary antibodies; anti-TH/ anti-GIRK2 (goat/rabbit both at 1:200 for human; mouse/rabbit 1:2000/1:200 for mice), anti-TH/ anti-calbindin (rabbit/mouse both at 1:1000 for mice) and anti-calbindin/anti-GIRK2 (mouse/rabbit 1:1000/1:200 for both human and mice). Immunofluorescent labeling was visible after incubation for three hours in Alexa fluor 594 anti-rabbit, Alexa fluor 488 anti-mouse, and Alexa fluor 488 anti-goat (Invitrogen A21207, A11001, A11055, each at 1:250). The mouse tissue sections were washed and counterstained with 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole, dilactate (Invitrogen D3571). All sections were washed, mounted, and coverslipped with fluorescent mounting medium (Dako S3023). Fluorescent images were captured using a Nikon Microscope ECLIPSE 90i confocal microscope and Nikon D-ECLIPSE C1 high-resolution camera. Double-labeled images were converted from red-green to magenta-green using Adobe Photoshop CS4 (Adobe Systems Inc., San Jose, CA, USA) as required for the Journal of Comparative Neurology.

Glenda Halliday 16/10/11 11:47 PM

Deleted: For

Glenda Halliday 16/10/11 11:47 PM

Deleted: s

Analysis

Initial comparative analyses of the GIRK2-immunoperoxidase reaction in spaced serial sections was performed for all human upper brainstems (n=5) and whole mouse brains (n=6) in order to identify the regional distribution of GIRK2-immunopositive neurons and fibers compared with the atlases of the human brainstem {Paxinos, 1995 #22} and the mouse brain {Franklin, 2008 #25}. The number of sections containing GIRK2-immunopositive structures in the upper brainstem of the mice was three of the 40 μ m thick sections in the spaced series (one in three series spaced 120 μ m apart, only these three levels contained the SNC), and for direct comparison three similar levels containing the greatest extent of the same subregions the human material (original one in sixteen series spaced every 800 μ m apart, average of 11-12 sections per upper brainstem, final three sections spaced approximately 3 mm apart) were selected from each human case for further analysis.

For the identification of the SNC and VTA subregions of interest in the selected sections, the atlases of the human brainstem (Paxinos and Huang, 1995), the mouse brain (Franklin and Paxinos, 2008), the published comparative cytoarchitectural study between the rat and human (McRitchie et al., 1996), and recent observations in the mouse brain (Franklin and Paxinos, personal communication) were used to confirm the borders distinguishing the upper brainstem dopamine cell groups. The simplified nomenclature for the anatomical divisions of the human SNC (the dorsal and ventral tiers, the pars lateralis and the pars medialis) and the medial and dorsal VTA subregions was used (McRitchie et al., 1996) and the boundaries were traced using Stereoinvestigator software (MicroBrightField, Williston, VT) installed on an Olympus BX51 microscope at X1.25 prior to subsequent analysis, at the three comparable rostrocaudal levels (see Figure 1).

Glenda Halliday 16/10/11 11:49 PM

Deleted: Stereoinvestigator software (MicroBrightField, Williston, VT) installed on an Olympus BX51 microscope was used for cell counting.

Glenda Halliday 16/10/11 11:50 PM

Deleted: T

Glenda Halliday 16/10/11 11:50 PM

Deleted: and

Glenda Halliday 16/10/11 11:50 PM

Deleted: were used to determine anatomical landmarks. In addition,

Glenda Halliday 16/10/11 11:51 PM

Deleted: determine

Glenda Halliday 16/10/11 11:50 PM

Deleted: cytoarchitecture of the

Glenda Halliday 16/10/11 11:52 PM

Deleted: study by McRitchie and colleagues (McRitchie et al., 1996)

Glenda Halliday 16/10/11 11:52 PM

Deleted: into four primary neuronal groups

Glenda Halliday 16/10/11 11:52 PM

Deleted: identified a number of

Glenda Halliday 16/10/11 11:53 PM

Deleted: . The divisions of these dopamine cell groups can also be observed in the mouse brain (Franklin and Paxinos, personal communication).

Glenda Halliday 16/10/11 11:54 PM

Deleted:

To establish the pattern of GIRK2 immunoreactivity, all upper brainstem pigmented cell groups in humans and all upper brainstem TH-immunoreactive cell groups in mice were initially identified

Glenda Halliday 16/10/11 11:55 PM

Deleted: using an X1.25 objective and a computerized stage. Further analysis of all SNC cell clusters and the dorsal and medial VTA cell clusters was performed.

To determine the proportion of pigmented (human) or TH-immunoreactive (mouse) neurons containing GIRK2 immunoreactivity, neurons exhibiting any immunoreactivity clearly within the cell soma using a X20 objective (human) or a X60 objective (mouse) were categorized as immunopositive and the proportion determined at each of the three levels in one representative control human and one mouse (rostrocaudal variability within regions is given as SEM). For comparison, co-localization of calbindin-immunoreactivity in the pigmented (human) or TH-immunoreactive (mouse) neurons in the same regions was also determined. The proportion of double-labeled neurons was assessed by two raters in 5% of the tissue sections and their numbers were highly correlated (Pearson $R=0.87$, $p=0.025$) and not significantly different using paired t test ($p=0.5$).

GIRK2 immunoreactivity was noted to be variable within the cell bodies, particularly in humans, so further assessment of the neuronal intensity of GIRK2 compared with TH (both human and mouse) or calbindin (mouse only) immunoreactivity was performed in the subregions identified in the immunoperoxidase series. This analysis was performed on the fluorescent images captured using constant settings on a Nikon Microscope ECLIPSE 90i confocal microscope with a Nikon D-ECLIPSE C1 high-resolution camera to ensure adequate image processing for evaluation. Images were captured separately in grayscale for each channel at x40 (human) or x60 (mice) and the series of images within each of the selected sections sewn together using Adobe Photoshop CS4 (Adobe Systems Inc., San Jose, CA, USA). The grayscale intensity of the GIRK2 immunoreaction was directly compared with the grayscale intensity of either the TH or calbindin immunoreactivity in the double-labeled neurons using Image J software and a scale of 0-255 (v1.42q Java, National Institute of Health, USA). Neurons with GIRK2 immunoreactivity at >50% of either the TH or

Glenda Halliday 16/10/11 11:56 PM

Deleted: was noted to be variable within the cell bodies, particularly in humans.

Glenda Halliday 16/10/11 11:56 PM

Deleted: N

Glenda Halliday 16/10/11 11:56 PM

Deleted: were counted

Glenda Halliday 16/10/11 11:56 PM

Deleted: counted

Glenda Halliday 16/10/11 11:57 PM

Deleted: F

Glenda Halliday 16/10/11 11:59 PM

Deleted: in the TH/GIRK2 and GIRK2/calbindin immunolabeled sections to establish whether some neurons express comparatively low levels of GIRK2 protein that would make them functionally different and less vulnerable.

Glenda Halliday 16/10/11 11:59 PM

Deleted: were rated as being either of strong or weak

Glenda Halliday 17/10/11 12:00 AM

Deleted: fluorescence intensity relative to the intensity of

calbindin immunoreactivity were identified as strongly labeled (**Figure 2**), and the proportion of double-labeled neurons with strong GIRK2-immunoreactivity determined. The cut-off value of 50% intensity was determined in separate workup experiments to identify the majority of neurons in the ventral SNC, as this region was previously identified as having strongly double-labeled neurons (Mendez et al., 2005; Thompson et al., 2005). The proportion of double-labeled neurons with strong GIRK2 immunoreactivity was assessed by two raters in 50% of the tissue sections and their numbers were highly correlated (Pearson R=0.98, $p<0.0001$) and not significantly different using paired t test ($p=0.4$).

*** Figures 1 & 2 about here ***

RESULTS

Cell clusters of the SNC

Dopamine neurons are present in each of the dorsal and ventral tiers and the pars lateralis and pars medialis of the SNC in both the human and mouse brain, but the proportional sizes of the tiers are species-dependent (**Figure 1**). As previously shown (Hardman et al., 2002), there is an enlarged ventral tier in humans compared with mice (**Figure 1**). The comparable ventral SNC cell clusters concentrate at mid transverse levels of the mouse SN, whereas they populate a greater rostrocaudal extent in humans as well as expanding significantly laterally. By contrast, the mouse dorsal tier is a continuous compact cell group, whereas in humans a more cell sparse area occurs in the midregion of the dorsal tier (**Figure 1**). As previously identified in humans (McRitchie et al., 1996), the pars medialis is located caudally and contains smaller cells than those of the dorsal and ventral tiers, and a similar cell cluster was observed in the medial aspects of the mouse SNC (**Figure 1**). The pars lateralis is positioned dorsolaterally in the SNC (**Figure 1**) and is identifiable by the orientation and shape of its neurons in the mouse and a notably decreased cellular density in the human brain.

Glenda Halliday 17/10/11 12:00 AM

Deleted: fluorescence within the cell

Glenda Halliday 17/10/11 12:01 AM

Deleted: .

Glenda Halliday 17/10/11 12:01 AM

Deleted: This was performed by identifying the grayscale intensities (0-255) of the labeling within the neuron with weak intensity considered $\leq 50\%$ of the comparative intensity. Assessment of 50% of the tissue sections by two raters gave an inter-rater agreement of 100% using this technique.

GIRK2-immunoreactive neurons and fibers in SNC neurons and cell clusters

Immunohistochemical localization of GIRK2 revealed that the protein is expressed in the cell

bodies and fibers (but not nuclei) of SNC neurons (**Figure 3**). Neuronal GIRK2 immunoreactivity within the cytoplasm appeared diffuse and granular (**Figure 4B,D**). In pigmented human SNC neurons, GIRK2 immunoreactivity was strongest in cell processes compared with somata (**Figure 3M-W**), although variation in the intensity of cell body staining was apparent (**Figure 2C,D**). In contrast, cell body staining was stronger in the mouse SNC compared with those in humans (**Figure 3A-L**) with stronger and weaker immunoreactive neurons also apparent (**Figure 2A,B**). In both species strong fiber staining had a punctate or varicose appearance (**Figure 4**). Neurons in nearby regions, including the SN pars reticulata (**Figure 5A,B**) and the striatum (data not shown) did not contain GIRK2 immunoreactivity, although a proportion of non-pigmented and TH-negative neurons in the dorsal raphe nucleus were immunoreactive for GIRK2 (not shown). In mice but not humans, GIRK2-immunopositive but TH-negative neurons were observed in the red nuclei and strong GIRK2-immunopositive fibers were located in the interpeduncular nucleus (**Figure 5A**).

*** Figures 2-5 about here ***

GIRK2-immunoreactive fibers appeared particularly prominent in the human compared with the mouse SN, with very long trajectories extending through the transverse sections (**Figure 4A,C**). In humans there was a dense network of GIRK2-immunoreactive fibers in the caudal, ventral and medial SN, within the ventral tier and pars medialis SNC cell clusters as well as in the pars reticulata ventral to the SNC cell clusters (**Figure 6G,F**). Many pigmented or TH- and GIRK2-immunoreactive neurons and dendrites in these more caudal regions appeared to be in close association with GIRK2-immunoreactive but TH-negative thin varicose fibers (**Figure 4D**). Similar to humans, many TH- and GIRK2-immunoreactive neurons and

Glenda Halliday 17/10/11 12:06 AM
Deleted: s

Glenda Halliday 17/10/11 12:03 AM
Deleted: 2-6

Glenda Halliday 17/10/11 12:07 AM
Deleted: s

Glenda Halliday 17/10/11 12:03 AM
Deleted: 2-

Glenda Halliday 17/10/11 12:04 AM
Deleted: Neurons in nearby regions, including the SN pars reticulata (**Figures 4A,C, 5A,B**) and the striatum (data not shown) did not contain GIRK2 immunoreactivity, although a proportion of non-pigmented and TH-negative neurons in the dorsal raphe nucleus were immunoreactive for GIRK2 (not shown). In mice but not humans, GIRK2-immunopositive but TH-negative neurons were observed in the red nuclei and strong GIRK2-immunopositive fibers were located in the interpeduncular nucleus (**Figures 5A, 8A**).

Glenda Halliday 17/10/11 12:07 AM
Deleted: s

Glenda Halliday 17/10/11 12:04 AM
Deleted: , 5C-E

Glenda Halliday 17/10/11 12:07 AM
Deleted: s

Glenda Halliday 17/10/11 12:05 AM
Deleted: , 5C-E

Glenda Halliday 17/10/11 12:05 AM
Deleted: 3R,S,V,W,

dendrites in the caudal SN of the mice appeared to be in close association with GIRK2-immunoreactive but TH-negative thin varicose fibers (**Figure 5E**). More rostrally, colocalization of GIRK2 and TH immunoreactivity was observed in fibers projected laterally from the dorsal SNC tier (**Figure 5C**).

*** **Figure 6 about here** ***

A very similar pattern of SNC cell clusters containing strong and weak GIRK2 immunoreactivity was observed in both the human and mouse (**Figure 6**). All SNC subdivisions throughout their entire rostrocaudal extent had a high proportion of neurons that expressed strong GIRK2 immunoreactivity in TH neurons (**Figure 6**). In contrast, only a small proportion of SNC TH (mouse) or pigmented (human) neurons contained calbindin immunoreactivity and these were confined to the dorsal, lateral and medial regions of the SNC, being absent from the ventral tier (**Figure 7B-D, Table 4**). Quantitation of TH and/or pigmented neurons in the SNC subdivisions revealed that the majority of human neuromelanin-pigmented and mouse TH-immunoreactive neurons contained GIRK2 immunoreactivity with a strong intensity (**Table 3**). In both species, an average of 88% of ventral tier neurons were strongly double-labeled, with the remainder of TH-immunoreactive neurons displaying weak GIRK2 immunoreactivity in mice (**Table 3**). This pattern of GIRK2 colocalization in dopamine neurons was consistent throughout the mouse SNC regions, while in humans slightly less double labeled neurons were observed in the dorsal, lateral and medial SNC regions (**Table 3**). A very small proportion of SNC neurons contained only GIRK2 immunoreactivity in both species (**Table 3**), while more SNC neurons contained only neuromelanin pigment in humans (14±3%) or only TH immunoreactivity in mice (3±5%) (**Table 3**). The similar pattern and proportion of GIRK2-immunoreactive neurons in the mice and human material suggests that post-mortem delay or time in fixative have had minimal effect.

Glenda Halliday 17/10/11 12:07 AM
Deleted: s

Glenda Halliday 17/10/11 12:06 AM
Deleted: 3, 5-

Glenda Halliday 17/10/11 12:08 AM
Deleted: or pigmented

Glenda Halliday 17/10/11 12:06 AM
Deleted: s

Glenda Halliday 17/10/11 12:06 AM
Deleted: 5A,B,

Glenda Halliday 17/10/11 12:09 AM
Deleted: or TH

*** Tables 3 and 4 about here ***

Quantitation of calbindin neurons in the SNC subdivisions of mice revealed only occasional GIRK2 double-labeled neurons in the dorsal tier with the majority of dorsal tier neurons containing GIRK2 immunoreactivity alone (**Figure 7A,B, Table 4**). While a proportion of neurons in the pars medialis were double labeled for calbindin and GIRK2, most were not strongly immunoreactive for GIRK2 (**Figure 7A,D, Table 4**) and this region had a relatively low proportion of TH/calbindin-immunoreactive neurons (**Table 4**). In contrast, all calbindin-immunoreactive neurons in the pars lateralis of mice were double labeled for GIRK2 with the majority strongly immunoreactive (**Figure 7A,C, Table 4**). This region of the SNC had a relatively high proportion of TH/calbindin-immunoreactive neurons (**Table 4**).

*** Figure 7 about here ***

Assessment of GIRK2 immunoreactive neurons in VTA neurons located dorsomedially

GIRK2 immunoreactivity in the dorsomedial VTA neurons was similar in intracellular location to that observed in the SNC, with both cell bodies and fibers (but not nuclei) containing GIRK2 immunoreactivity (**Figures 5, 7-8**). In both human and mouse VTA, all subregions contained GIRK2-immunoreactive neurons (**Figures 5, 7-8**). Unlike human SNC neurons, a large proportion of the human VTA dopamine neurons do not contain neuromelanin pigment (Hirsch et al., 1989), with a slightly lower proportion of pigmented VTA neurons also containing GIRK2 immunoreactivity (**Figure 8G-J**) and a larger number of non-pigmented GIRK2-immunoreactive neurons observed (**Table 3**). Double labeling showed that a very small proportion of GIRK2-immunoreactive neurons in the VTA regions were not TH-immunoreactive (**Table 3**). In contrast to the low proportion of calbindin- and TH-immunoreactive SNC neurons, over 30% of pigmented or TH-immunoreactive neurons in the dorsomedial VTA on average contained calbindin immunoreactivity (**Table 4**). In humans

the paranigral nucleus (PN) had about as many neurons containing calbindin immunoreactivity alone as those colocalizing with neuromelanin pigment, although this was not a major feature of the other VTA subregions (**Figure 7I**). In mice nearly all PN TH-immunoreactive neurons also contained calbindin immunoreactivity, while 43% on average of the pigmented neurons in this region were calbindin-immunoreactive in humans (**Table 4**). This could suggest that most non-pigmented calbindin-immunoreactive neurons in this region in humans would also be TH-immunoreactive. Lower proportions of pigmented or TH-positive neurons in the other VTA regions abutting the SNC also contained calbindin immunoreactivity (**Table 4**).

*** **Figure 8 about here** ***

In contrast to the SNC, a smaller proportion of pigmented or TH-immunoreactive VTA neurons also had strong GIRK2 immunoreactivity with more variability between subregions and species (compare **Figures 8 with 6, Table 3**). In humans the parabrachial pigmented nucleus (PBP) directly abutting the red nucleus had the highest proportion of strongly GIRK2-immunoreactive dopamine neurons (**Figure 8G, Table 3**). In mice the rostral VTA contained a relatively high proportion of strong GIRK2 intensity dopamine neurons (**Figure 8E, Table 3**), while this region had weak GIRK2 immunoreactivity in humans (**Figure 8J, Table 3**). The reverse was observed in the PN where a high proportion of dopamine neurons contained GIRK2 immunoreactivity in humans but not mice (**Figure 8D,I, Table 3**). Taking both strong and weak GIRK2 immunoreactivity into account, the majority of dopamine neurons in the VTA regions contained some GIRK2 immunoreactivity in both species (**Table 3**).

Because few SNC neurons were calbindin-immunoreactive, the colocalization of GIRK2 with calbindin occurred mainly in VTA neurons (**Figure 7**). In the VTA a relatively small

proportion of calbindin-immunoreactive neurons did not contain at least some GIRK2 immunoreactivity (**Table 4**). As noted above, PN contained a high proportion of calbindin-immunoreactive neurons and many also had GIRK2 immunoreactivity, although strong expression was only observed in 25% (**Figure 7A,F**, **Table 4**). A similar proportion of strong GIRK2/calbindin-immunoreactive neurons were observed in the other major VTA subregions, although few were found in the VTAR (**Table 4**).

DISCUSSION

This study details the upper brainstem localization of GIRK2 protein in humans and mice using double labeling with [pigment](#), TH and calbindin to determine the dopamine cell groups involved. While the cellular localization of calbindin and TH immunoreactivity found in the SN and VTA regions in both species confirmed previously published studies (Damier et al., 1999; Liang et al., 1996a; McRitchie et al., 1996), the localization of GIRK2 immunoreactivity in the same tissue did not yield expected results. As detailed in the introduction, the expression of GIRK2 protein is thought to differentiate SN neurons from those in the VTA. More particularly, GIRK2 expression is thought to differentiate those SN neurons in the ventral tier which are most vulnerable to Parkinson's disease, and GIRK2 immunohistochemistry has been widely used for identifying such cells in studies assessing dopamine neural grafts (Stromberg et al., 2010). There has been only one previous human tissue study assessing GIRK2 expression in the upper brainstem (Mendez et al., 2005). This study found that GIRK2-expressing dopamine neurons were located predominantly in the ventral tier of the SNC. In contrast, our results using the same antibody suggest no significant differentiation between ventral and dorsal tier SNC neurons in the amount of their GIRK2 immunoreactivity. Further, we found that a significant proportion of dopamine neurons in the

human VTA also had strong GIRK2 immunoreactivity, particularly in the paranigral and parabrachial pigmented regions immediately adjacent to the SN. As most VTA regions do not have any significant neuronal loss even in end-stage Parkinson's disease (McRitchie et al., 1997), these data show that GIRK2 is expressed in human dopamine neurons that are both vulnerable and resistant to Parkinson's disease.

In order to determine whether our findings in the human brainstem were not due to a species difference, we have used the same techniques to directly compare GIRK2 immunoreactivity in the upper brainstem of mice. Our results in mice are similar to those we observed in humans and are also similar to those described by Lammel and coworkers (2008) showing that the entire SNC and lateral VTA regions express GIRK2 protein. This contrasts with some studies in mice describing that SNC but not VTA dopamine neurons express GIRK2 protein (Aron et al., 2010; Chung et al., 2005; Thompson et al., 2005). Consistent with our mice and human data, previous localization studies in rats also show that the entire SNC and lateral but not midline VTA regions contain GIRK2-immunoreactive dopamine neurons (Eulitz et al., 2007). All of these studies show that GIRK2 protein is localized in dopamine neurons in the entire SNC, and does not differentiate the ventral from the dorsal tier.

Another reason for the concept that GIRK2 expression is important for the survival of ventral tier SN neurons is the pattern of cell loss observed in mutant GIRK2 Weaver mice (Graybiel et al., 1990; Slesinger et al., 1996). The loss of brainstem dopamine neurons in Weaver mice has been described to be selective for the ventral tier of the SN, largely sparing the VTA and dorsal tier (Graybiel et al., 1990; Slesinger et al., 1996). However, more careful analysis of these studies shows that the pattern of strong GIRK2 immunoreactivity we observed in mice dopamine neurons is very similar to the pattern of cell loss observed in Weaver mice, with the

Glenda Halliday 17/10/11 6:57 PM

Deleted: w

following Weaver mice description noted. “Neuronal loss in the VTA was not evident on qualitative analysis, but at the border between the lateral VTA cell group and the medial SN cell group there was obvious loss of TH-immunostained neurons” (Graybiel et al., 1990). The discrepancy between these previous and more recent work is the anatomical identification of the dopamine neuronal clusters of the upper brainstem. Again the data are consistent with no differentiation between the true ventral and dorsal tiers of the SN with respect to GIRK2 protein expression.

Differential GIRK2 intensity in SNC and VTA neurons

GIRK2 expression in VTA dopamine neurons has not been reported in most previous immunohistochemical studies, although studies assessing both GIRK2 mRNA and protein have identified considerable variation in expression levels (Eulitz et al., 2007; Saenz del Burgo et al., 2008). Our study is the first to quantify this variability and determine the relative levels of GIRK2 immunoreactivity in different dopamine cell groups. Strong GIRK2 immunoreactivity was found in most SNC cells (Mice: 82%, Humans: 77%) but also in a relatively large proportion of VTA cells (Mice: 58%, Humans: 55%). We (and others) also observed weak GIRK2 protein expression in nearly all remaining upper brainstem dopamine neurons. It should be noted that dopamine neurons with low GIRK2 mRNA but high protein levels have also been observed (Eulitz et al., 2007), suggesting that modulation of turnover can contribute to the variability in the number of GIRK2 channels on dopamine neurons. While this may contribute to the differences observed in GIRK2 localization between studies, we believe the erroneous impression that GIRK2 expression is largely confined to SN neurons is due to the difference in the proportion of strong GIRK2-immunoreactive neurons between the SN and VTA, in association with cell size differences (smaller VTA compared with SN dopamine neurons (Halliday et al., 2005; Poirier et al., 1983)).

Glenda Halliday 17/10/11 12:13 AM

Deleted: Functionally this implies a great variability in the number of GIRK2 channels per dopamine neuron.

GIRK2 controls the neuronal membrane excitability of dopamine neurons through its activation of D2 or GABA_B receptors (Wickman and Clapham, 1995) and interactions with other ion channels, such as the K-ATP channel (Liss et al., 1999). It is of interest that the K-ATP channel is also considered to promote the differential cell death between SNC and VTA neurons (Liss et al., 2005).

GIRK2 and calbindin colocalization

Previous studies have reported several genes as being differentially expressed in specific subsets of midbrain dopamine neurons (Chung et al., 2005; Duke et al., 2007; Greene et al., 2005; Grimm et al., 2004), supporting the concept of functionally diverse populations of brainstem dopamine neurons. In this context, the protein calbindin is mainly restricted to VTA regions (Damier et al., 1999; Liang et al., 1996b; McRitchie and Halliday, 1995; Yamada et al., 1990), a finding corroborated in the present study. In the context of GIRK2 localization studies, calbindin immunoreactivity has been used to separate dopamine neurons in the VTA (which contain this calcium binding protein) from those in the SNC (Mendez et al., 2005; Thompson et al., 2005). These studies suggest that GIRK2 and calbindin are not expressed together in dopamine neurons. Our observations show that around 25% of calbindin-immunoreactive VTA neurons also had strong GIRK2-immunoreactivity. This supports the concept that these proteins are largely confined to different populations of dopamine neurons, although we observed a greater overlap than expected in the strong colocalized expression of these proteins.

Speculation on the non-dopaminergic GIRK2-immunoreactive fibers in the SNC

A proportion of GIRK2-immunopositive fibers did not contain TH immunoreactivity. This

was found both within the ventral SNC cell clusters as well as ventrally in the pars reticulata of both species. Similar strong GIRK2 immunoreactive fiber staining has also been identified in the rat SN (Liao et al., 1996; Murer et al., 1997; Saenz del Burgo et al., 2008). As no GIRK2 mRNA occurs in neurons of the pars reticulata (Karschin et al., 1996; Liao et al., 1996), it is unlikely that the fiber staining is from neurons in this region. As the fibers do not colocalize TH immunoreactivity and have a restricted localization in the SN, it is unlikely they are from the dopamine neurons of the SNC or VTA. The restricted regional localization and highly varicose nature of the GIRK2 positive/TH negative fibers impinging on GIRK2/TH-immunoreactive dendrites in the caudal and ventral regions of the SN suggests they could be afferent fibers to the SN.

The striatum is one of the main regions with projections to the SN. From mRNA and localization studies, there is no evidence for GIRK2 protein expression in striatal neurons (Mouse: (Schein et al., 1998); Rat: (Saenz del Burgo et al., 2008)), consistent with our preliminary experiments in this region showing no GIRK2-immunopositive striatal neurons (data not shown). The SN also receives a dense 5-HT innervation from the dorsal raphe nucleus (DR) (Fahn et al., 1971; Mackay et al., 1978), with electron microscopy showing that these terminals form synaptic junctions with both the SNC dopamine neurons and the non-dopamine neurons in the pars reticulata (Herve et al., 1987; Kalivas, 1993; Moukhles et al., 1997). This 5-HT innervation matches the regional localization of the GIRK2 positive/TH negative fibers within the SN (Corvaja et al., 1993; van der Kooy and Hattori, 1980; Wirtshafter et al., 1987). GIRK2 mRNA is found in the majority of DR neurons, although fewer DR neurons contain GIRK2 immunoreactivity (Saenz del Burgo et al., 2008). We can confirm the presence of GIRK2 positive/TH negative neurons in the human DR (data not shown). GIRK2 channels are coexpressed with 5-HT autoreceptors in the DR as well as with

5-HT heteroreceptors in the SN (Hopwood and Stamford, 2001; Penington et al., 1993; Saenz del Burgo et al., 2008) and we suspect that the GIRK2 positive/TH negative fibers observed in the SN are on 5-HT fibers projecting from the DR.

Summary

Our study has found that GIRK2 protein is expressed in the vast majority of human and mouse SN neurons and that its expression does not differentiate ventral from dorsal tier neurons. We also found that the majority of nearby VTA regions contain a high proportion of intensely stained GIRK2-immunoreactive dopamine neurons. It therefore seems unlikely that the differential expression of the GIRK2 channel is responsible for the selective neuronal vulnerability observed within the SNC in Parkinson's disease. Further work is required to identify the molecular mechanism and proteins involved in such selective dopamine neuron vulnerability.

Other Acknowledgements

Human brain tissue was received from the Sydney Brain Bank that is supported by Neuroscience Research Australia, the University of New South Wales and the National Health and Medical Research Council of Australia. We would like to thank the staff of the Sydney Brain Bank for assistance with this project, Veronica Smoothy for laboratory assistance, and Heidi Cartwright for figure work.

LITERATURE CITED

- Aron L, Klein P, Pham TT, Kramer ER, Wurst W, Klein R. 2010. Pro-survival role for Parkinson's associated gene DJ-1 revealed in trophically impaired dopaminergic neurons. *PLoS Biol* 8(4):e1000349.
- Bernheimer H, Birkmayer W, Hornykiewicz O, Jellinger K, Seitelberger F. 1973. Brain dopamine and the syndromes of Parkinson and Huntington. Clinical, morphological and neurochemical correlations. *J Neurol Sci* 20(4):415-455.
- Braak H, Braak E. 1986. Nuclear configuration and neuronal types of the nucleus niger in the brain of the human adult. *Hum Neurobiol* 5(2):71-82.
- Braak H, Del Tredici K, Rub U, de Vos RA, Jansen Steur EN, Braak E. 2003. Staging of brain pathology related to sporadic Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiol Aging* 24(2):197-211.
- Chung CY, Seo H, Sonntag KC, Brooks A, Lin L, Isacson O. 2005. Cell type-specific gene expression of midbrain dopaminergic neurons reveals molecules involved in their vulnerability and protection. *Hum Mol Genet* 14(13):1709-1725.
- Corvaja N, Doucet G, Bolam JP. 1993. Ultrastructure and synaptic targets of the raphe-nigral projection in the rat. *Neuroscience* 55(2):417-427.
- Damier P, Hirsch EC, Agid Y, Graybiel AM. 1999. The substantia nigra of the human brain. I. Nigrosomes and the nigral matrix, a compartmental organization based on calbindin D(28K) immunohistochemistry. *Brain* 122 (Pt 8):1421-1436.
- Double KL, Reyes S, Werry EL, Halliday GM. 2010. Selective cell death in neurodegeneration: Why are some neurons spared in vulnerable regions? *Prog Neurobiol*.
- Duke DC, Moran LB, Pearce RK, Graeber MB. 2007. The medial and lateral substantia nigra in Parkinson's disease: mRNA profiles associated with higher brain tissue vulnerability. *Neurogenetics* 8(2):83-94.
- Eulitz D, Pruss H, Derst C, Veh RW. 2007. Heterogeneous distribution of kir3 potassium channel proteins within dopaminergic neurons in the mesencephalon of the rat brain. *Cell Mol Neurobiol* 27(3):285-302.
- Fahn S, Libsch LR, Cutler RW. 1971. Monoamines in the human neostriatum: topographic distribution in normals and in Parkinson's disease and their role in akinesia, rigidity, chorea, and tremor. *J Neurol Sci* 14(4):427-455.
- Fearnley JM, Lees AJ. 1991. Ageing and Parkinson's disease: substantia nigra regional selectivity. *Brain* 114 (Pt 5):2283-2301.
- Franklin K, Paxinos G. 2008. The mouse brain in stereotaxic coordinates. San Diego: Elsevier Academic Press.
- Gibb WR, Lees AJ. 1991. Anatomy, pigmentation, ventral and dorsal subpopulations of the substantia nigra, and differential cell death in Parkinson's disease. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* 54(5):388-396.
- Graybiel AM, Ohta K, Roffler-Tarlov S. 1990. Patterns of cell and fiber vulnerability in the mesostriatal system of the mutant mouse weaver. I. Gradients and compartments. *J Neurosci* 10(3):720-733.
- Greene JG, Dingledine R, Greenamyre JT. 2005. Gene expression profiling of rat midbrain dopamine neurons: implications for selective vulnerability in parkinsonism. *Neurobiol Dis* 18(1):19-31.
- Greenfield JG, Bosanquet FD. 1953. The brain-stem lesions in Parkinsonism. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* 16(4):213-226.
- Grimm J, Mueller A, Hefti F, Rosenthal A. 2004. Molecular basis for catecholaminergic neuron diversity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 101(38):13891-13896.

- Halliday GM, McRitchie DA, Cartwright H, Pamphlett R, Hely MA, Morris JG. 1996. Midbrain neuropathology in idiopathic Parkinson's disease and diffuse Lewy body disease. *J Clin Neurosci* 3(1):52-60.
- Halliday GM, Ophof A, Broe M, Jensen PH, Kettle E, Fedorow H, Cartwright MI, Griffiths FM, Shepherd CE, Double KL. 2005. Alpha-synuclein redistributes to neuromelanin lipid in the substantia nigra early in Parkinson's disease. *Brain* 128(Pt 11):2654-2664.
- Hardman CD, Henderson JM, Finkelstein DI, Horne MK, Paxinos G, Halliday GM. 2002. Comparison of the basal ganglia in rats, marmosets, macaques, baboons, and humans: volume and neuronal number for the output, internal relay, and striatal modulating nuclei. *J Comp Neurol* 445(3):238-255.
- Hassler R. 1938. Zur Pathologie der Paralysis agitans und des postenzephalitischen Parkinsonismus. *J Psychol Neurol* 48:387-476.
- Herve D, Pickel VM, Joh TH, Beaudet A. 1987. Serotonin axon terminals in the ventral tegmental area of the rat: fine structure and synaptic input to dopaminergic neurons. *Brain Res* 435(1-2):71-83.
- Hirsch E, Graybiel A, Agid Y. 1989. Selective vulnerability of pigmented dopaminergic neurons in Parkinson's disease. *Acta Neurol Scand* 126:19-22.
- Hopwood SE, Stamford JA. 2001. Multiple 5-HT(1) autoreceptor subtypes govern serotonin release in dorsal and median raphe nuclei. *Neuropharmacology* 40(4):508-519.
- Kalivas PW. 1993. Neurotransmitter regulation of dopamine neurons in the ventral tegmental area. *Brain research Brain research reviews* 18(1):75-113.
- Karschin C, Dissmann E, Stuhmer W, Karschin A. 1996. IRK(1-3) and GIRK(1-4) inwardly rectifying K⁺ channel mRNAs are differentially expressed in the adult rat brain. *J Neurosci* 16(11):3559-3570.
- Kofuji P, Hofer M, Millen KJ, Millonig JH, Davidson N, Lester HA, Hatten ME. 1996. Functional analysis of the weaver mutant GIRK2 K⁺ channel and rescue of weaver granule cells. *Neuron* 16(5):941-952.
- Lacey MG, Mercuri NB, North RA. 1987. Dopamine acts on D2 receptors to increase potassium conductance in neurones of the rat substantia nigra zona compacta. *J Physiol* 392:397-416.
- Lammel S, Hetzel A, Hackel O, Jones I, Liss B, Roeper J. 2008. Unique properties of mesoprefrontal neurons within a dual mesocorticolimbic dopamine system. *Neuron* 57(5):760-773.
- Liang CL, Sinton CM, German DC. 1996a. Midbrain dopaminergic neurons in the mouse: co-localization with Calbindin-D28K and calretinin. *Neuroscience* 75(2):523-533.
- Liang CL, Sinton CM, Sonsalla PK, German DC. 1996b. Midbrain dopaminergic neurons in the mouse that contain calbindin-D28k exhibit reduced vulnerability to MPTP-induced neurodegeneration. *Neurodegeneration : a journal for neurodegenerative disorders, neuroprotection, and neuroregeneration* 5(4):313-318.
- Liao YJ, Jan YN, Jan LY. 1996. Heteromultimerization of G-protein-gated inwardly rectifying K⁺ channel proteins GIRK1 and GIRK2 and their altered expression in weaver brain. *J Neurosci* 16(22):7137-7150.
- Liss B, Haeckel O, Wildmann J, Miki T, Seino S, Roeper J. 2005. K-ATP channels promote the differential degeneration of dopaminergic midbrain neurons. *Nat Neurosci* 8(12):1742-1751.
- Liss B, Neu A, Roeper J. 1999. The weaver mouse gain-of-function phenotype of dopaminergic midbrain neurons is determined by coactivation of wvGirk2 and K-ATP channels. *J Neurosci* 19(20):8839-8848.
- Mackay AV, Yates CM, Wright A, Hamilton P, Davies P. 1978. Regional distribution of monoamines and their metabolites in the human brain. *J Neurochem* 30(4):841-848.

- McRitchie DA, Cartwright HR, Halliday GM. 1997. Specific A10 dopaminergic nuclei in the midbrain degenerate in Parkinson's disease. *Exp Neurol* 144(1):202-213.
- McRitchie DA, Halliday GM. 1995. Calbindin D28k-containing neurons are restricted to the medial substantia nigra in humans. *Neuroscience* 65(1):87-91.
- McRitchie DA, Hardman CD, Halliday GM. 1996. Cytoarchitectural distribution of calcium binding proteins in midbrain dopaminergic regions of rats and humans. *J Comp Neurol* 364(1):121-150.
- Mendez I, Sanchez-Pernaute R, Cooper O, Vinuela A, Ferrari D, Bjorklund L, Dagher A, Isacson O. 2005. Cell type analysis of functional fetal dopamine cell suspension transplants in the striatum and substantia nigra of patients with Parkinson's disease. *Brain* 128(Pt 7):1498-1510.
- Moukhles H, Bosler O, Bolam JP, Vallee A, Umbriaco D, Geffard M, Doucet G. 1997. Quantitative and morphometric data indicate precise cellular interactions between serotonin terminals and postsynaptic targets in rat substantia nigra. *Neuroscience* 76(4):1159-1171.
- Murer G, Adelbrecht C, Lauritzen I, Lesage F, Lazdunski M, Agid Y, Raisman-Vozari R. 1997. An immunocytochemical study on the distribution of two G-protein-gated inward rectifier potassium channels (GIRK2 and GIRK4) in the adult rat brain. *Neuroscience* 80(2):345-357.
- Navarro B, Kennedy ME, Velimirovic B, Bhat D, Peterson AS, Clapham DE. 1996. Nonselective and G betagamma-insensitive weaver K⁺ channels. *Science* 272(5270):1950-1953.
- Paxinos G, Huang X. 1995. Atlas of the human brainstem. California: Academic Press.
- Penington NJ, Kelly JS, Fox AP. 1993. Whole-cell recordings of inwardly rectifying K⁺ currents activated by 5-HT_{1A} receptors on dorsal raphe neurones of the adult rat. *J Physiol* 469:387-405.
- Poirier LJ, Giguere M, Marchand R. 1983. Comparative morphology of the substantia nigra and ventral tegmental area in the monkey, cat and rat. *Brain Res Bull* 11(3):371-397.
- Saenz del Burgo L, Cortes R, Mengod G, Zarate J, Echevarria E, Salles J. 2008. Distribution and neurochemical characterization of neurons expressing GIRK channels in the rat brain. *J Comp Neurol* 510(6):581-606.
- Schein JC, Hunter DD, Roffler-Tarlov S. 1998. Girk2 expression in the ventral midbrain, cerebellum, and olfactory bulb and its relationship to the murine mutation weaver. *Dev Biol* 204(2):432-450.
- Slesinger PA, Patil N, Liao YJ, Jan YN, Jan LY, Cox DR. 1996. Functional effects of the mouse weaver mutation on G protein-gated inwardly rectifying K⁺ channels. *Neuron* 16(2):321-331.
- Stromberg I, Bickford P, Gerhardt GA. 2010. Grafted dopamine neurons: Morphology, neurochemistry, and electrophysiology. *Prog Neurobiol* 90(2):190-197.
- Thompson L, Barraud P, Andersson E, Kirik D, Bjorklund A. 2005. Identification of dopaminergic neurons of nigral and ventral tegmental area subtypes in grafts of fetal ventral mesencephalon based on cell morphology, protein expression, and efferent projections. *J Neurosci* 25(27):6467-6477.
- van der Kooy D, Hattori T. 1980. Dorsal raphe cells with collateral projections to the caudate-putamen and substantia nigra: a fluorescent retrograde double labeling study in the rat. *Brain Res* 186(1):1-7.
- Wickman K, Clapham DE. 1995. Ion channel regulation by G proteins. *Physiol Rev* 75(4):865-885.

- Wirtshafter D, Stratford TR, Asin KE. 1987. Evidence that serotonergic projections to the substantia nigra in the rat arise in the dorsal, but not the median, raphe nucleus. *Neurosci Lett* 77(3):261-266.
- Yamada T, McGeer PL, Baimbridge KG, McGeer EG. 1990. Relative sparing in Parkinson's disease of substantia nigra dopamine neurons containing calbindin-D28K. *Brain Res* 526(2):303-307.

ABBREVIATIONS

3n	third nerve fascicles
5-HT	serotonin
ABBN	Australian Brain Donors Programmes
ACEC	Animal Care and Ethics Committee
Aq	aqueduct
cp	cerebral peduncle
DAB	diaminobenzidine tetrahydrochloride
DR	dorsal raphe nucleus
fr	fasciculus retroflexus
GIRK2	G protein-activated inward rectifier potassium channel 2
H ₂ O ₂	hydrogen peroxide
ml	medial lemniscus
MT	medial terminal nucleus of the optic tract
PAG	periaqueductal gray
PaP	parapeduncular nucleus
PBS	0.1M phosphate-buffered saline
PBP	parabrachial pigmented nucleus
PIF	parainterfascicular nucleus
PN	paranigral nucleus
R	red nucleus
RLi	rostral linear nucleus
RRF	retrosubthalamic fields
SN	substantia nigra
SND	dorsal tier of the substantia nigra pars compacta

SNL	substantia nigra pars lateralis
SNM	substantia nigra pars medialis
SNV	ventral tier of the substantia nigra pars compacta
SNC	substantia nigra pars compacta
SNR	substantia nigra pars reticulata
TH	tyrosine hydroxylase
VTA	ventral tegmental area
VTAR	rostral ventral tegmental area
xscp	decussation of the superior cerebellar peduncle

FIGURE LEGENDS

Figure 1: Representative transverse sections through three upper levels (indicated at left) of the mouse (A,C,E) and human (B,D,F) brainstem immunohistochemically stained with tyrosine hydroxylase (TH) (counterstained with cresyl violet in the mouse) showing the comparative location of the cytoarchitecturally different dopamine cell clusters. Scale in E equivalent for A and C. Scale in F equivalent for B and D. The cell clusters in the substantia nigra (SN) are more extensive in humans compared with mice occupying more of the lateral and caudal regions of this structure. In particular, there is an enlarged ventral tier (SNV) in humans compared with mice. The mouse dorsal tier (SND) is a continuous compact cell group, whereas in humans a more cell sparse area occurs at mid levels of the SN. The ventral tegmental area (VTA) cell groups extend more dorsally in humans compared with mice.

Glenda Halliday 17/10/11 6:57 PM
Deleted: V

Figure 2: Representative 1µm confocal images of double immunohistochemically labeled neurons in the VTA of the mouse (A,B) showing the variable intensity and location of GIRK2 immunoreactivity in TH immunoreactive neurons. Arrows at right indicate the rating of the intensity from grayscale images which were compared to determine strong (50-100% of the intensity of the TH immunoreactivity) and weak (<50% of the intensity of the TH immunoreactivity) GIRK2 immunoreactivity in the TH-immunoreactive neurons. TH only immunoreactive neurons are also shown. Similar representative images in the human SN taken under normal fluorescence microscopy (C,D) also show the variable intensity of GIRK2 immunoreactivity in TH immunoreactive neurons. Note [that confocal images were used to determine the relative intensity of the GIRK2 immunoreaction in human sections, but](#) the dark pigment [shown is](#) not seen using confocal microscopy.

Glenda Halliday 17/10/11 6:57 PM
Deleted: -

Glenda Halliday 17/10/11 6:58 PM
Deleted: -

Glenda Halliday 17/10/11 12:17 AM
Deleted: (
Glenda Halliday 17/10/11 12:17 AM
Deleted:) in many of the human TH immunoreactive neurons in the SN

Figure 3: Photomicrographs of GIRK2 immunohistochemically stained sections through different levels (at left) of the SN in mice (**A-L**) and humans (**M-W**) showing immunoreactive neurons in all SNC cell clusters. Scale bar in L is equivalent for all figures. In humans neuromelanin pigment (found in dopamine neurons) is brown, in contrast to the nickel-cobalt enhanced GIRK2 immunoreactivity (black), indicating that the GIRK2 immunoreactivity occurs in these human dopamine neurons. The majority of SNC neurons in these regions contained enhanced diffuse and granular GIRK2 immunoreactivity. GIRK2 immunoreactivity was strongest in SNC cell processes compared with somata in humans (**M-W**) with cell body staining stronger in the mouse SNC (**A-L**).

Glenda Halliday 17/10/11 6:58 PM

Deleted: -

Figure 4: Photomicrographs of mouse (**A,B**) and human (**C,D**) sections through the SN immunofluorescently stained for both TH (green) and GIRK2 ([magenta converted from red](#)). High magnification shows diffuse and granular cytoplasmic colocalization ([white](#) in the merged images) of TH and GIRK2 immunoreactivity in SNC neurons (**B,D**) and double-labeled varicose fibers dominating the pars reticulata (**A,C**). Double labeled TH/GIRK2 immunoreactive neurons in the caudal SNC appeared to be in close association with GIRK2-immunoreactive but TH-negative fibers (**B,D**).

Glenda Halliday 17/10/11 12:17 AM

Deleted: yellow

Glenda Halliday 17/10/11 6:58 PM

Deleted: -

Figure 5: Photomicrographs of TH (green)/GIRK2 ([magenta converted from red](#)) double immunofluorescence labeled transverse brainstem sections from mice (**A,C-E**) and a GIRK2 nickel cobalt enhanced immunoperoxidase labeled human transverse brainstem section (**B**). Scale in **E** is equivalent for **C** and **D**. GIRK2 immunoreactivity colocalized ([white](#)) with TH-immunoreactive dopamine neurons and varicose fibers in mice (**A,C-E**) but was more restricted to only the dopamine cell clusters in humans (**B**). GIRK2-immunoreactive but TH-negative neurons were located in the red nuclei with GIRK2-immunoreactive fibers in the

Glenda Halliday 17/10/11 12:17 AM

Deleted: yellow

interpeduncular in mice (**A**) but not humans (even with enhanced immunoperoxidase staining as shown in **B**). The degree of colocalization of TH and GIRK2 immunoreactivity in SN fibers differed depending on the rostrocaudal location of the transverse brainstem section. Rostrally (**C**) many TH/GIRK2-immunopositive varicose fibers occurred in the pars reticulata, with less overlap and some GIRK2 only-immunoreactive fibers observed at mid levels (**D**), while caudally (**E**) GIRK2 only immunoreactive varicose fibers predominated.

Figure 6: Photomicrographs of TH (green)/GIRK2 ([magenta converted from red](#)) double immunofluorescence labeled SN sections from mice (**A-D**) and humans (**E-H**). Scale in **D** is equivalent for **A-C**. Scale in **H** is equivalent for **E-G**. The majority of neurons in all the SN subregions were strongly double labeled with both TH and GIRK2 ([white](#) in the merged images) with only occasional TH only-immunoreactive neurons observed in any of the cell clusters.

Glenda Halliday 17/10/11 12:18 AM
Deleted: yellow

Figure 7: Photomicrograph of calbindin (green)/GIRK2 ([magenta converted from red](#)) double immunofluorescence labeled transverse brainstem sections from mice (**A-H**) and a calbindin immunoperoxidase labeled human transverse brainstem section (**I**). Scale in **H** equivalent for **B-F**. Note that calbindin immunoreactivity was observed in nuclei as well as the cytoplasm of positively stained neurons (**B-H**). There is more limited overlap ([white](#)) of calbindin and GIRK2 immunoreactivity in SN and VTA neurons (**A-H**, compare with **Figures 5, 6**). As previously described, few SN neurons contained calbindin immunoreactivity (**A-D**) with only some SNM neurons (**A,D**) but more SNL neurons (**A,C**) also strongly immunoreactive for GIRK2. There was variable overlap ([white](#)) of calbindin and GIRK2 immunoreactivity in VTA subregions, with very few high GIRK2 intensity, double-labeled neurons in the VTAR (**E**) and up to 25% of calbindin-immunoreactive neurons in other VTA subregions also

Glenda Halliday 17/10/11 12:18 AM
Deleted: yellow

Glenda Halliday 17/10/11 12:18 AM
Deleted: yellow

containing GIRK2 immunoreactivity (**F-H**). In contrast to other VTA subregions, most PN neurons were at least weakly immunoreactive for GIRK2 (**F**). A large proportion of the human VTA dopamine neurons do not contain neuromelanin pigment (Hirsch et al., 1989), and many calbindin-immunoreactive non-pigmented paranigral (PN) neurons (arrows in **I**) were observed. In other human VTA subregions, calbindin immunoreactivity occurred mainly in pigmented neurons (**I**).

Figure 8: Photomicrographs of TH (green)/GIRK2 ([magenta converted from red](#)) double immunofluorescence labeled transverse brainstem sections from mice (**A-E**) and GIRK2 nickel cobalt enhanced immunoperoxidase labeled human transverse brainstem sections (**F-J**). Scale in **E** is equivalent for **B-D**. Scale in **J** is equivalent for **G-I**. In all VTA subregions, GIRK2 immunoreactivity was found in most TH-immunoreactive (**A-E**) and/or pigmented dopamine neurons (**G-J**, arrows indicate GIRK2-immunoreactive pigmented neurons), although occasional neurons expressing only TH immunoreactivity and/or pigment were observed (asterisks in **C-D,J**). The intensity of GIRK2 was highly variable in the VTA subregions, with the majority of subregions close to the SN having many high GIRK2 intensity, double-labeled neurons (**B,E**) while those closer to the midline contained mostly low GIRK2 intensity, double-labeled neurons (**C,D**).